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News from the Royal Commission
Last year CAPEL and the Royal Commission on Ancient and Historical
Monuments of Wales signed a Heads of Agreement for cooperation in the
study of chapels and chapel history. One of the points was that a report on
chapels related work undertaken by the Royal Commission would appear
regularly in the Capel Newsletter.

The Chapels Recording Project
Members will be aware of this project and indeed many will have contributed
to it by photographing and recording information about chapels throughout
Wales. We are most grateful to all those who gave such unstinting and
generous support.

The first stage of the project was to identify and create basic records for as
many Nonconformist chapels and Sunday schools as possible and this has
largely been achieved. The database now contains over 8000 records of
buildings, more than 2000 more than previous estimates of this stock of
building. The results may be viewed on the Royal Commission's web-site at
www.rcahmw.org.uk where they are incorporated in CARN, the database
for archaeology and historical buildings in Wales. A more detailed listing is
being prepared for the web. This will tabulate chapels and Sunday schools by
pre-1974 county, giving details of dates, architects etc. Other data will be
added later. At present Ceredigion / Cardiganshire is available although as yet
no details of architects are provided. It is our intention to add further counties
in the near future. Many of the dates and details of architect or builder will be
drawn from the companion database compiled by the Board of Celtic Studies
with their kind permission.



The photographic coverage of extant chapel and Sunday school buildings was
an important aim of the project and much ground has been covered, mainly
by CAPEL members. We are now carrying out an assessment of coverage to
identify gaps and formulate a plan to complete the exercise.

Chapel Architects
Detailed recording and analysis of selected chapels was always a further aim
of the project. The Royal Commission is concentrating particularly on seven
key chapel architects: Richard Owen, Rev. Thomas Thomas, John Humphrey,
George Morgan, Richard Davies, Owen Morris Roberts and Sir William
Beddoes-Rees. Elsewhere in this issue Eryl Wyn Rowlands gives a tentative
list of the chapels designed or renovated by Richard Owen. It is our intention
to make available to members, similar lists for the other six architects, both
for information and to provide a basis for a more complete picture.

Rev. Thomas Thomas
Building on his research into the work of Thomas Thomas and John
Humphrey in the Swansea area which has been incorporated in Copperopolis.
Landscapes of the Early Industrial Period in Swansea (Aberystwyth:
RCAHMW, 2000), Stephen Hughes has positively identified 125 of the 900
chapels that Thomas designed or modified. Thomas worked between ca. 1843
and 1886, designing chapels mostly for his own Welsh Independent and
English Congregational denominations but also for other denominations,
including Welsh Calvinistic Methodist, Baptist and English Primitive
Methodist and Bible Christian chapels. He practised particularly widely in
Glamorgan, Caernarfonshire and Carmarthenshire but his work is densely
represented all over Wales and in Welsh congregations across England.

CAPEL members who may be aware of chapels attributed to Thomas Thomas
are asked to contact
Stephen Hughes (TeL 01970 621215; E-mail: stephen.hughes@rcahmw.org.uk)
or
David Perdval (Tel. 01970 621217; E-mail: david.percival@rcahmw.org.uk)



Capel y Doc, Llanelli Members who attended the Spring 1999 meeting at
Llanelli may have looked at a chapel that was not on the formal itinerary of
the day, Capel y Doc.

Capel y Doc ©RCAHMW
This Welsh Independent chapel was built in 1857 close to the New Dock of
1832. In 1868 it was rebuilt to the designs of John Humphrey. The facade of
Capel y Doc contrasts with Humphrey's later and better known Llanelli chapel
Tabernacl. No great triple arches here; a double doonvay with double window
above, framed in a shallow great arch. The interior however shows a number
of Humphrey touches, some of which are copied from Thomas's earlier work
for the same denomination:- the forward projecting pulpit accessed by a
sweeping stair on either side, curved side pews graduated so that the
congregation face the pulpit wherever they are seated, a pierced cast-iron
balcony front on three sides, with a plain panelled front above the sêtfawr,
two windows in the lobby screen.
The chapel was visited by RCAHMW in response to a proposal to demolish
it. A measured plan was made and also additions to the existing photographic
coverage.

D J Percival



Richard Owen 1831 -1891, Architect

It is surprising how little
is known about the
architects of our chapels.
Even in chapel and other
local histories one very
often draws a blank.
However, the one name
that stands out is that of
Richard Owen. The little
we know about his life is
found in that remarkable
volume by J R Jones,
The Welsh Builder on
Merseyside (Liverpool,
1946). Born in 1831 at
Plas Bel, Y Ffôr, (Four
Crosses), Gwynedd,
Richard Owen was
apprenticed to his father
as a joiner. Twenty years
later he moved to
Liverpool, where he
married and settled
down. He was employed Engedi, Caernarfon
by John Jones, a builder, of Spencer Street, Everton, and then, after Jones
emigrated to the United States, by Williams and Jones, Castle Street. This
was when he started attending night school drawing classes at the Mechanics'
Institute and started studying to be an architect. He married circa 1859 and
in 1862 set up in business on his own in Crosshall Street. Over the years he
worked closely as a surveyor with the firm of Messrs David Roberts & Co.,
one of the largest Welsh building firms (founded in Liverpool as early as
1828). Owen planned their offices in Dale Street and Roberts' Welsh
Mansion at Bryngwenallt, Abergele.



Like hundreds of other Welsh people in Liverpool, he joined a Welsh chapel,
in Mulberry Street. He later moved to the Welsh CM. chapel at Rose Place,
where he was given his first chapel contract, building Fitzclarence Street
Welsh CM. Chapel in 1864. In a nutshell there is no doubt that Owen
benefited greatly from the close connections that existed between the Welsh,
and their chapels. But he was also a most prolific architect when it came to
planning within Liverpool itself. Another interesting fact is that he designed
the stage for the first Eryri Temperance Festival, held in Caernarfon Castle
in 1866. I have been unable to discover whether or not he was given the
contract for the 1867 festival, but in that year the stage collapsed, slightly
injuring 150 of the choristers.
By his death in 1891, (when over 600 mourners attended his funeral), he is
alleged to have planned over 250 chapels in Wales and England. In an effort
to substantiate this claim I have trawled Barter ac Amserau Cymru for 1863-
91 and Y Genedl Gymreig for the period 1877-91 searching for tendering
advertisements, and have so far discovered 85 chapels designed by him.

Here is my incomplete list of chapels built or renovated by Richard Owen (or
Richard Owen & Son), gathered in the main from Baner ac Amserau Cymru.
(Where known I have included the denomination.)

1865 Liverpool, Fitzclarence St. Welsh CM.
Tal-y-sarn, Gwynedd, Capel Mawr, CM.

1866 Caernarfon, Engedi (extension)
1867 Dwyran, Anglesey, CM.
1868 Bethesda, Gerlan CM. Schoolroom

Bethesda, Carneddi CM.
Sarnau, Gwynedd,CM.
Dinmael, Gwynedd, CM.
Rhuddlan, CM.
Llanrhaeadr, Pentre CM.
Rhuthun, Wesleyan
Cefii Mawr, Ruabon, Wesleyan

1869 Rock Ferry, Merseyside, CM.
Blaenau Ffestiniog, Bethesda. Independent



Machynlleth, Penuel CM.
Tal-y-bont, Bala
Shrewsbury, Mills Lane CM.

1870 Amlwch, Capel Mawr CM.
Llandrindod Wells,C.M.

1871 Towyn, Gwynedd, Bethel CM.
Southport, Peniel CM.
Llangollen, Baptist
Mold, Y Ffridd CM.

1872 Llanrhystud, Rhiwbwys CM.
Llanuwchllyn, Glanaber CM.
Corwen, CM.
Llandeilo, CM.
Ffynnongroyw, CM.
Lampeter, Shiloh CM.
Penmachno, CM.
Rhyl, Wesleyan
Flint, CM.

1873 Mostyn, Wesleyan
Llangollen, CM.
Conwy, Carmel CM.
Llandovery, Williams Pantycelyn Memorial Church CM.
Llanfaircaereinion, CM.

1874 Llanidloes, Wesleyan
Llanidloes, China St. CM.
Rhuthun, Pentrecelyn CM.
Cemaes, Montgomeryshire, CM.
Nercwys, Flints. Soar CM.(renovation)
Nefyn, CM.
Rhyl, Bethel CM. schoolroom
Llanidloes, Pare CM.
Brymbo, Bwlchgwyn Wesleyan
Flint, Wesleyan

1875 Penmaenmawr, English CM.
Mold, Bethesda CM (addition of gallery)
Caemarfon, Wesleyan (renovation)



Llansadwrn, Carms., Seion CM.
Abererch, CM.
Edeyrn, CM.

1876 Aberystwyth, Baker St., Independent
Mold, Wesleyan (interior only)
Llanllechid, Jerusalem CM. and minister's house
Flint, CM.
Felinheli, Wesleyan
Rhosllanerchrugog, Capel Mawr CM. extension and renovation
Blaenau Ffestiniog, Diffwys CM.

1877 Tregarth, Independent
Oswestry, Wesleyan
Trawsfynydd, Wesleyan
Llanfairmathafarneithaf, Tabernacl CM.
Llanuwchllyn, Glanaber CM. (schoolroom & minister's house)
Colwyn Bay, Independent
Liverpool, Anfield Rd. CM.
St.David's CM.

1878 Coedpoeth CM.
Bwlchgwyn CM. (extension and renovation)
Corwen, Wesleyan
Dolgellau, Wesleyan
Clwt-y-bont, Deiniolen, Independent
Dolwyddelen. CM.
Liverpool, David St. CM.

1879 Aberystwyth, Tabernacl CM.
Denbigh, Capel Mawr CM. (extension and renovation)
Llandrillo, CM.
Liverpool, Waterloo CM.

1880 HenUan, Denbigh, CM.
Trefriw, Llanrwst, Independent
Llanrwst, Baptist

1882 Caemarfon, Castle Square English CM.
1883 Caerwys, Capel y Ddôl CM.
1885 Adwy'r Clawdd, CM.
No advertisements have been noted from the period 1886-91.



Shiloh, Lampeter Castle Street, Caernarfon
(before demolition of its spire)

The growth and decline of the work carried out by Owen during his career can
be tabulated:

1863
1864
1865
1866
1867
1868
1869
1870

0
0
2
1
1
8
5
2

1871
1872
1873
1874
1875
1876
1877
1878

4
9
5
10
6
7
8
7

1879
1880
1881
1882
1883
1884
1885
1886

4
3
0
1
1
0
1
0

1887
1888
1887
1888
1889
1890
1891

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

This table does not pretend to be exhaustive, but one interesting fact is borne
out. in that the agricultural depression that followed the boom of the 1870s
and lasted into the twentieth century did have a severe effect upon chapel



building in rural Wales. This fact is also borne out when we study the chapels
planned by another, less important, architect, Richard Davies of Bangor and
Llanfairfechan. After 1878, apart from two chapels in 1881, he does not
appear to have planned other chapels until 1904. Of course, tenders for
building English language chapels or chapels in England would not appear
in Barter acAmserau Cymru or other Welsh papers. Hugh Owen joined his
father's firm in 1882, when it became known as Richard Owen & Son. Under
that name they built at least two chapels, Edge Lane CM., Liverpool, 1899,
and Heathfield Road CM., Liverpool, 1924.

Capel y Ddôl, Caerwys, after conversion into a residence

Hugh Owen died in 1942 but the firm continued in business and,
interestingly, it is quite probable that the last chapel planned by them was the
new Stanley Road CM. Chapel built in 1956 in place of the building
destroyed by enemy action in 1941. Ironically enough, the first chapel
planned by Richard Owen at Fitzclarence Street, was also destroyed by enemy
action!

Of interest also is the appearance from this incomplete list that most of
Richard Owen's work was for his own denomination. It is also apparent from
the above evidence that most of the work was done in rural Wales, apart from
Flintshire and Liverpool, with the occasional large chapel at a seaside resort.


